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  31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 Note US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
   (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
ASSETS      

Current assets      

Cash and bank balances 6 4,726,176 19,022,858 17,485,828 71,429,608 
Trade and other receivables 7 2,427,248 9,769,673 2,913,750 11,902,669 
Inventories 8 94,926 382,077 154,602 631,549 

  7,248,350 29,174,608 20,554,180 83,963,826 

Non-current assets      

Bank balances 6 4,153,643 16,718,413 3,958,850 16,171,902 
Other receivables 9 1,583,398 6,373,177 - - 
Property and equipment 10 17,234,796 69,370,054 8,872,818 36,245,462 
Intangible assets 11 239,741 964,958 243,763 995,772 
Investment property 12 81,629 328,557 43,111 176,108 
Right-of-use assets 13 723,848 2,913,488 - - 

  24,017,055 96,668,647 13,118,542 53,589,244 

TOTAL ASSETS  31,265,405 125,843,255 33,672,722 137,553,070 
      
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables 14 3,447,482 13,876,115 2,702,507 11,039,741 
Borrowings 15 6,800,576 27,372,318 3,432,784 14,022,923 
Debt securities 16 24,987,523 100,574,780 24,094,813 98,427,311 
Employee benefit liabilities 17 115,213 463,732 94,759 387,091 
Minimum tax liability 26(b) 12,021 48,385 9,163 37,431 
Lease liabilities 18 37,589 151,296 - - 

  35,400,404 142,486,626 30,334,026 123,914,497 

Non-current liabilities      
Debt securities 16 9,809,327 39,482,541 9,809,327 40,071,101 
Borrowings 15 858,218 3,454,327 1,087,317 4,441,690 
Provision on onerous contract  8,427 33,919 52,308 213,678 
Employee benefit liabilities 17 42,191 169,819 52,130 212,951 
Lease liabilities 18 737,122 2,966,916 - - 
Other payables 19 228,373 919,201 - - 

  11,683,658 47,026,723 11,001,082 44,939,420 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  47,084,062 189,513,349 41,335,108 168,853,917 
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  31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 Note US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
   (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
      
Equity      

Share capital 20 13,020,930 52,083,720 13,020,930 52,083,720 
Accumulated losses  (28,839,587) (117,585,747) (20,683,316) (84,381,567) 
Currency translation reserves  - 1,831,933 - 997,000 

  (15,818,657) (63,670,094) (7,662,386) (31,300,847) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  31,265,405 125,843,255 33,672,722 137,553,070 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  2024 2023 
 Note US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
   (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
      
Revenue 21 11,286,614 45,947,806 10,348,051 42,530,490 

Cost of services 22 (13,605,458) (55,387,820) (12,349,244) (50,755,393) 

Gross loss  (2,318,844) (9,440,014) (2,001,193) (8,224,903) 

Other operating income 23 1,165,691 4,745,528 1,199,283 4,929,053 

Operating and administrative  
expenses 24 (2,653,745) (10,803,396) (675,268) (2,775,351) 

Reversal of/(Provision for)  
onerous contract expense  43,881 178,640 (52,308) (214,986) 

Reversal of/ (Provision for)  
impairment losses 6,7 67,609 275,236 (18,356) (75,443) 

Minimum tax expense 26(c) (124,802) (508,069) (116,271) (477,874) 

Operating loss  (3,820,210) (15,552,075) (1,664,113) (6,839,504) 

Finance costs – net 27 (4,336,061) (17,652,105) (3,728,565) (15,324,402) 

Loss before income tax  (8,156,271) (33,204,180) (5,392,678) (22,163,906) 

Income tax expense 26(c) - - - - 

Net loss for the year  (8,156,271) (33,204,180) (5,392,678) (22,163,906) 

Other comprehensive loss      

Items that will not be  
reclassified to profit or loss      

Currency translation differences  - 834,933 - 207,447 

Total comprehensive loss  
for the year  (8,156,271) (32,369,247) (5,392,678) (21,956,459) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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   Currency  
 Share capital Accumulated losses translation reserves Total 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 

  (Note 5)  (Note 5)  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
         
At 1 January 2024 13,020,930 52,083,720 (20,683,316) (84,381,567) - 997,000 (7,662,386) (31,300,847) 

Total comprehensive loss         

Net loss for the year - - (8,156,271) (33,204,180) - - (8,156,271) (33,204,180) 
Currency translation differences - - - - - 834,933 - 834,933 

 - - (8,156,271) (33,204,180) - 834,933 (8,156,271) (32,369,247) 

At 31 December 2024 13,020,930 52,083,720 (28,839,587) (117,585,747) - 1,831,933 (15,818,657) (63,670,094) 
         
At 1 January 2023 13,020,930 52,083,720 (15,290,638) (62,217,661) - 789,553 (2,269,708) (9,344,388) 

Total comprehensive loss         

Net loss for the year - - (5,392,678) (22,163,906) - - (5,392,678) (22,163,906) 
Currency translation differences - - - - - 207,447 - 207,447 

 - - (5,392,678) (22,163,906) - 207,447 (5,392,678) (21,956,459) 

At 31 December 2023 13,020,930 52,083,720 (20,683,316) (84,381,567) - 997,000 (7,662,386) (31,300,847) 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     

Net loss for the year (8,156,271) (33,204,180) (5,392,678) (22,163,906) 

Adjustments for:     

Depreciation and amortisation 2,326,339 9,470,526 1,312,922 5,396,109 
Finance costs 4,663,827 18,986,440 4,137,125 17,003,584 
Employee benefit 210,332 856,262 198,771 816,949 
Property and equipment written off 418 1,702 17,887 73,516 
Minimum tax expense 124,802 508,069 116,271 477,874 
Finance incomes (327,766) (1,334,335) (408,560) (1,679,182) 
(Reversal of)/Provision for onerous 

contract expense (43,881) (178,640) 52,308 214,986 
(Reversal of)/Allowance for 

impairment loss (67,609) (275,236) 18,356 75,443 

 (1,269,809) (5,169,392) 52,402 215,373 
Changes in:     

Trade and other receivables 458,070 1,864,803 (607,920) (2,498,551) 
Inventories 59,676 242,941 (72,262) (296,997) 
Trade and other payables 744,975 3,032,793 (1,038,566) (4,268,506) 
Other receivables (1,583,398) (6,446,013) - - 
Other payables 228,373 929,706 - - 

Cash used in operation (1,362,113) (5,545,162) (1,666,346) (6,848,681) 

Interest paid (3,586,054) (14,598,826) (3,501,896) (14,392,793) 
Payment of employee benefits (199,817) (813,455) (199,966) (821,860) 
Minimum tax paid (121,944) (496,434) (173,115) (711,503) 

Net cash used in operating activities (5,269,928) (21,453,877) (5,541,323) (22,774,837) 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     

Interest received 132,973 541,333 223,397 918,162 
Acquisition of property and equipment (10,628,551) (43,268,831) (3,087,877) (12,691,174) 
Acquisition of intangible asset (5,648) (22,993) (1,200) (4,932) 
Acquisition of investment property (8,604) (35,027) (1,377) (5,659) 

Net cash used in investing activities (10,509,830) (42,785,518) (2,867,057) (11,783,603) 
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 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceed of borrowings 3,233,054 13,161,763 2,000,000 8,220,000 
Repayment of borrowings (208,989) (850,794) (133,621) (549,182) 
Payment of lease liabilities (100,000) (407,100) - - 

Net cash generated from  
financing activities 2,924,065 11,903,869 1,866,379 7,670,818 

     
Net decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents (12,855,693) (52,335,526) (6,542,001) (26,887,622) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of the year 17,649,823 72,099,527 24,191,824 99,597,739 

Currency translation differences - (467,628) - (610,590) 

Cash and cash equivalents 
at end of the year (Note 6) 4,794,130 19,296,373 17,649,823 72,099,527 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 

1. Background information 

Royal Railway Plc. (“the Company”) is a public limited liability company incorporated in the Kingdom 
of Cambodia. The Company was originally established under the Registration No. Co. 2874/06E 
dated 6 April 2006 issued by the Ministry of Commerce (“MOC”). Subsequently, the Company has 
received the approval from the Council for the Development of Cambodia (“CDC”) to be a Qualified 
Investment Project (“QIP”) with a new Registration No. Inv. 0643KH/2014 dated 6 October 2015. 
On 25 August 2016, the Company obtained a new registration No. 00018504 from the MOC. 

The Company operates in railway services under a Railway Concession Agreement (“the Concession 
Agreement”) signed with the Government of the Kingdom of Cambodia (“GKC”), represented by 
the Ministry of Public Works and Transport (“MPWT”) in the Kingdom of Cambodia for a period of 
30 years over the specific concession assets as stipulated in the Concession Agreement. However, 
the effective date of the Concession Agreement has yet to be officially determined due to the 
condition precedent to the effective date has yet to be fully met. As of the date of these condensed 
interim financial statements, the Company is still working with the GKC for a new amended Railway 
Concession Agreement. 

The Company’s shares of 98.9999% are owned by Inter Logistics (Cambodia) Co., Ltd, and the 
remaining 1.0001% owned by Neak Oknha Kith Meng. 

The address of its registered office is at Central Railway Station, Russian Federation Boulevard, 
Sangkat Sras Chork, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia. 

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 964 employees (31 December 2023: 804 employees). 

2. Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Cambodian 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“CIFRSs”).  

The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements unless otherwise stated. Details of the Company’s material accounting policies are 
included in Note 31. 

The financial statements of the Company were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on        
21 March 2025. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

(c) Going concern assumption 

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company generated a net loss of US$8,156,271 
(31 December 2023: US$5,392,678) and generated net negative cash flows from operating 
activities for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounting to US$5,269,928 (31 December 2023: 
US$5,541,323) and as at 31 December 2024, the Company had net current liabilities of 
US$28,152,054 (31 December 2023: net current liabilities of US$9,779,846) and accumulated 
losses amounting to US$28,839,587 (31 December 2023: US$20,683,316). 

The validity of the going concern assumption fundamentally depends on the ultimate shareholder's 
continuing to provide financial assistance that is necessary to meet its liabilities as and when they 
fall due and to maintain the Company in existence as a going concern for the foreseeable future. In 
addition, the validity may also be dependent on the acceleration and successful conclusion of the 
concession agreement between the Government of the Kingdom of Cambodia ("GKC") 
represented by Ministry of Public Works and Transport ("MPWT") and the Company.  

At the date of these financial statements, the ultimate shareholder has confirmed that he will continue 
to provide sufficient financial support to the Company and there is no reason for the Company’s 
management to believe that the ultimate shareholder will not continue his support. The Company will 
also continue to work closely with the GKC to reach a conclusion on the concession agreement in 
due course. 

Based on these factors, management has a reasonable expectation that the Company will have 
adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. 

3. Functional and presentation currency 

The national currency of Cambodia is the Khmer Riel (“KHR”). However, as the Company transacts 
and maintains its accounting records primarily in United States Dollars (“US$”), management have 
determined the US$ to be the Company’s functional and presentation currency as it reflects the 
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances of the Company. 

These financial statements are presented in US$, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 
amounts have been rounded to the nearest dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 
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4. Use of judgments and estimates 

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates 
are recognised prospectively. 

Measurement of fair values 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair 
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  

The finance team regularly reviews the significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. 
If third party information is used to measure fair values, then the finance team assesses the 
evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the 
requirements of CIFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations 
should be classified. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market observable data 
as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based 
on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the 
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement.  

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred.  

Information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in Note 30 – financial 
instruments. 
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5. Translation of United States Dollars into Khmer Riel 
The financial statements have been presented in the United States Dollars (“US$”). The translations of 
the financial statements are expressed in United States Dollars which is the Company’s functional 
currency. The translations of United States Dollars amount into Khmer Riel meets the presentation 
requirements pursuant to Law on Accounting and Auditing and has been done in compliance with 
CIAS 21 - The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. 

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate as at the reporting date and share capital and 
other equity accounts are translated at the historical rate. The statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and cash flows are translated into KHR using the average rate for the year, 
which have been deemed to approximate the exchange rates at the date of transaction as exchange 
rates have not fluctuated significantly during the year. Exchange differences arising from the 
translation are recognised as “Currency Translation Reserves” in the other comprehensive income. 

The Company uses the following exchange rates: 

Financial year end Closing rate Average rate 
31 December 2024 US$1= KHR4,025 KHR4,071 
31 December 2023 US$1= KHR4,085 KHR4,110 

     

These convenience translations should not be construed as representations that the United States 
Dollars amounts have been, could have been, or could in the future be, converted into Khmer Riel 
at this or any other rate of exchange. 

6. Cash and bank balances 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
Current     
Cash on hand 3,310 13,322 2,229 9,106 
Cash at banks (*) 4,790,820 19,283,051 17,647,594 72,090,421 

Total cash and bank balances 4,794,130 19,296,373 17,649,823 72,099,527 
Less: Allowance for expected 

credit loss (67,954) (273,515) (163,995) (669,919) 

 4,726,176 19,022,858 17,485,828 71,429,608 
Non-current     
Cash at banks:     
Debt Service Reserve Account 

(“DSRA”) (**) 3,768,312 15,167,456 3,591,585 14,671,624 
Guarantee Fee Reserve Account  

(“GFRA”) (**)  385,331 1,550,957 367,265 1,500,278 

Total bank balances 4,153,643 16,718,413 3,958,850 16,171,902 
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6. Cash and bank balances (continued) 

(*) Included in the cash at banks balance is the Bond Proceeds Account for which the Company 
will be able to withdraw amounts from the Bond Proceeds Account, following submission of 
written requests for specific capital expenditure and to be validated by GuarantCo Ltd                  
(“the Guarantor”). As at 31 December 2024, the remaining amount in the account is 
US$3,789,241 (31 December 2023: US$14,454,865). 

(**) Debt Service Reserve Account and Guarantee Fee Reserve Account are reserve accounts 
specifically set aside to make debt payments and guarantee fee payments in the event of a 
disruption of cash flows (i.e default event) for the bonds payable and is held at Association of 
Cambodia Local Economic Development Agencies (”Acleda Bank”) which earns annual 
interest rate of 5.00% (31 December 2023: 5.00%) and must be kept as minimum balance for 
the rest of the bonds’ terms.  

For purpose of preparing the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Cash on hand 3,310 13,322 2,229 9,106 
Cash at banks (current portion) 4,790,820 19,283,051 17,647,594 72,090,421 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,794,130 19,296,373 17,649,823 72,099,527 

The movement of allowance for impairment losses for bank balances during the year were as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
At 1 January (163,995) (669,919) (210,527) (866,739) 
Recognised in profit or loss 96,041 390,983 46,532 191,247 
Currency translation differences - 5,421 - 5,573 

At 31 December  (67,954) (273,515) (163,995) (669,919) 



Royal Railway Plc. 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
for the year ended 31 December 2024 

21 

7. Trade and other receivables 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Trade receivables 798,282 3,213,085 575,983 2,352,891 
Less: Allowance for impairment 

losses (194,492) (782,830) (166,060) (678,355) 

 603,790 2,430,255 409,923 1,674,536 
Advance to suppliers 1,740,428 7,005,223 2,057,634 8,405,435 
Amount due from related parties 

(Note 28) 29,094 117,103 48,933 199,891 

Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost 2,373,312 9,552,581 2,516,490 10,279,862 

Deposits 5,162 20,777 79,810 326,024 
Prepayments 47,194 189,956 17,982 73,456 
Others 1,580 6,359 299,468 1,223,327 

 2,427,248 9,769,673 2,913,750 11,902,669 

The movement of allowance for impairment losses for trade receivables during the year were as 
follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
At 1 January (166,060) (678,355) (101,172) (416,525) 
Recognised in profit or loss (28,432) (115,747) (64,888) (266,690) 
Currency translation differences - 11,272 - 4,860 

At 31 December  (194,492) (782,830) (166,060) (678,355) 

8. Inventories 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Locomotive parts 46,043 185,323 60,306 246,350 
Tools 10,633 42,798 27,390 111,888 
Fuel oil 13,194 53,106 13,902 56,790 
Diesel 23,358 94,016 42,352 173,008 
Wagon parts 1,698 6,834 10,652 43,513 

 94,926 382,077 154,602 631,549 
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9. Other receivables 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Advance to supplier (*) 1,512,000 6,085,800 - - 
Other deposit (**) 71,398 287,377 - - 

 1,583,398 6,373,177 - - 

(*) On 3 November 2022, the Company made advance payments amounting to US$1,512,000 
pertaining to the initial payment made for the purchase of 130 Flat Top Wagons to a supplier 
in South Africa. This transaction is part of a broader procurement initiative intended to enhance 
the Company’s transport and logistics capabilities.  

 Originally classified under Trade and other receivables (Note 7) as advance to suppliers, the 
advance has now been classified to Non-Current Assets due to its extended disruption and 
uncertainty in the shipment delays as they are unlikely to be settled within the typical operating 
cycle of the business as of reporting date. The Company is still in negotiating with the suppliers 
to resolve the disruption.  

(**) Originally classified under current Trade and other receivables (Note 7), these deposits comprise 
of rental deposit and Guarantee deposit at the Dry Port which are now reclassified to Non-Current 
Asset. This classification follows the anticipated favourable outcome of the ongoing negotiation on 
the new amended Railway Concession Agreement that kicked off during the fourth quarter. 

 



Royal Railway Plc. 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
for the year ended 31 December 2024 

23 

10. Property and equipment 
 
 Railroad     Equipment    Signage    
 and station     and Office Furniture IT and Construction   
 improvements Locomotive Wagon Train track Trolley machinery equipment and fittings hardware Boom gate in progress Total 
2024 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ KHR’000 
             (Note 5) 
              
Cost              
At 1 January 816,335 8,489,132 3,080,282 860,557 48,393 791,833 9,134 8,794 102,548 41,739 133,813 14,382,560 58,752,758 
Addition 97,339 967,492 3,775,057 69,269 2,225 273,026 - - 1,450 9,839 5,432,854 10,628,551 43,268,831 
Transfers 104,065 1,989,306 3,183,712 149,044 - 1,480 - - - 49,738 (5,477,345) - - 
Transfers to Intangible asset - - - - - - - - - - (6,500) (6,500) (26,462) 
Transfers to investment property - - - - - - - - - - (40,928) (40,928) (166,618) 
Written off - (6,800) (86,037) - - (11,712) - (613) (2,709) - - (107,871) (439,143) 
Currency translation differences - - - - - - - - - - - - (1,344,723) 

At 31 December 1,017,739 11,439,130 9,953,014 1,078,870 50,618 1,054,627 9,134 8,181 101,289 101,316 41,894 24,855,812 100,044,643 
              
Less: Accumulated depreciation              
At 1 January 519,570 2,810,878 952,702 397,232 33,559 679,691 8,802 8,794 85,312 13,202 - 5,509,742 22,507,296 
Depreciation for the year 99,147 969,400 876,754 169,725 3,617 78,586 181 - 11,865 9,452 - 2,218,727 9,032,438 
Written off - (6,800) (86,036) - - (11,295) - (613) (2,709) - - (107,453) (437,441) 
Currency translation differences - - - - - - - - - - - - (427,704) 

At 31 December 618,717 3,773,478 1,743,420 566,957 37,176 746,982 8,983 8,181 94,468 22,654 - 7,621,016 30,674,589 

              
Carrying amounts              
At 1 January 296,765 5,678,254 2,127,580 463,325 14,834 112,142 332 - 17,236 28,537 133,813 8,872,818 36,245,462 

At 31 December 399,022 7,665,652 8,209,594 511,913 13,442 307,645 151 - 6,821 78,662 41,894 17,234,796 69,370,054 

As at 31 December 2024, fully depreciated property and equipment with an original cost of US$2,355,205 (31 December 2023: US$1,248,068) were still in use. 
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10. Property and equipment (continued) 
 
 Railroad     Equipment    Signage    
 and station     and Office Furniture IT and Construction   
 improvements Locomotive Wagon Train track Trolley machinery equipment and fittings hardware Boom gate in progress Total 
2023 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ KHR’000 
             (Note 5) 
              
Cost              

At 1 January 656,825 7,806,896 1,211,498 580,845 32,163 736,078 9,134 8,794 97,661 15,057 160,672 11,315,623 46,586,419 
Addition 22,855 548,876 897,344 25,445 16,230 70,248 - - 5,807 26,660 1,474,412 3,087,877 12,691,174 
Transfers 199,104 140,428 864,847 258,041 - 1,849 - - - 22 (1,464,291) - - 
Transfers to investment property  - - - - - - - - - - (46,926) (46,926) (192,866) 
Transfers from inventory  - - 119,286 2,915 - - - - - - 10,294 132,495 544,554 
Written off (62,449) (7,068) (12,693) (6,689) - (16,342) - - (920) - (348) (106,509) (437,752) 
Currency translation differences - - - - - - - - - - - - (438,771) 

At 31 December 816,335 8,489,132 3,080,282 860,557 48,393 791,833 9,134 8,794 102,548 41,739 133,813 14,382,560 58,752,758 
              
Less: Accumulated depreciation              

At 1 January 493,849 2,058,562 717,830 281,832 32,163 625,441 8,135 8,794 72,868 8,218 - 4,307,692 17,734,767 
Depreciation for the year 74,341 759,171 247,565 119,236 1,396 69,948 667 - 13,364 4,984 - 1,290,672 5,304,662 
Written off (48,620) (6,855) (12,693) (3,836) - (15,698) - - (920) - - (88,622) (364,236) 
Currency translation differences - - - - - - - - - - - - (167,897) 

At 31 December 519,570 2,810,878 952,702 397,232 33,559 679,691 8,802 8,794 85,312 13,202 - 5,509,742 22,507,296 
              
Carrying amounts              

At 1 January 162,976 5,748,334 493,668 299,013 - 110,637 999 - 24,793 6,839 160,672 7,007,931 28,851,652 

At 31 December 296,765 5,678,254 2,127,580 463,325 14,834 112,142 332 - 17,236 28,537 133,813 8,872,818 36,245,462 
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11. Intangible assets 
 
 Computer Sign-on Construction   
 software fee in progress Total 
2024 US$ US$ US$ US$ KHR’000 
     (Note 5) 
Cost      
At 1 January 20,290 450,000 - 470,290 1,921,135 
Additions - - 5,648 5,648 22,993 
Transfers from PPE - - 6,500 6,500 26,462 
Currency translation differences - - - - (28,777) 
At 31 December 20,290 450,000 12,148 482,438 1,941,813 
Less: Accumulated amortisation      
At 1 January 18,935 207,592 - 226,527 925,363 
Amortisation for the year 697 15,473 - 16,170 65,828 
Currency translation differences - - - - (14,336) 
At 31 December 19,632 223,065 - 242,697 976,855 
Carrying amounts      
At 1 January 1,355 242,408 - 243,763 995,772 
At 31 December 658 226,935 12,148 239,741 964,958 

Fully amortised computer software as at 31 December 2024 with original cost of US$18,591                   
(31 December 2023: US$17,193) were still in use. 
 
 Computer Sign-on   
 software fee Total 
2023 US$ US$ US$ KHR’000 
    (Note 5) 
Cost     
At 1 January 19,090 450,000 469,090 1,931,244 
Addition 1,200 - 1,200 4,932 
Currency translation differences - - - (15,041) 
At 31 December 20,290 450,000 470,290 1,921,135 
Less: Accumulated amortisation     
At 1 January 17,349 192,120 209,469 862,384 
Amortisation for the year 1,586 15,472 17,058 70,108 
Currency translation differences - - - (7,129) 
At 31 December 18,935 207,592 226,527 925,363 
Carrying amounts     
At 1 January 1,741 257,880 259,621 1,068,860 

At 31 December 1,355 242,408 243,763 995,772 
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12. Investment property 
 
 2024 2023 
 Investment  Construction    
 property in progress Total Investment property 
 US$ US$ US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
    (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
Cost       

At 1 January 48,303 - 48,303 197,318 - - 
Additions 6,972 1,632 8,604 35,027 1,377 5,659 
Transfers 10,363 (10,363) - - - - 
Transfers from property and equipment - 40,928 40,928 166,618 46,926 192,866 
Currency translation differences - - - (5,177) - (1,207) 

At 31 December 65,638 32,197 97,835 393,786 48,303 197,318 

Less: Accumulated amortisation       

At 1 January 5,192 - 5,192 21,210 - - 
Depreciation for the period 11,014 - 11,014 44,838 5,192 21,339 
Currency translation differences - - - (819) - (129) 

At 31 December 16,206 - 16,206 65,229 5,192 21,210 

Carrying amounts       

At 1 January 43,111 - 43,111 176,108 - - 

At 31 December 49,432 32,197 81,629 328,557 43,111 176,108 

Investment property pertains to a warehouse located on conceded land in Battambang province that is leased to a third party. The estimated fair value of the 
warehouse as determined by the Management is approximate to its carrying amounts as at 31 December 2024. 
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13. Right-of-use assets 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
Cost     
At 1 January - - - - 
Addition 804,276 3,274,208 - - 
Currency translation differences - (36,998) - - 

At 31 December 804,276 3,237,210 - - 

Less: Accumulated amortisation     
At 1 January - - - - 
Depreciation for the period 80,428 327,422 - - 
Currency translation differences - (3,700) - - 

At 31 December 80,428 323,722 - - 

Carrying amounts     
At 1 January  - - - - 

At 31 December 723,848 2,913,488 - - 

Right-of-use assets pertains to land located at Khan Dongkao, Phnom Penh that is leased from 
Sihanoukville Autonomous Port (PAS). See Note 18 for more details. 

14. Trade and other payables 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Trade payables:     

Trade payables to third parties 2,187,393 8,804,257 1,368,619 5,590,809 
Amounts due to related  

parties (Note 28)  85,780 345,265 258,677 1,056,696 
Tax payables:      

Value added tax 81,520 328,118 63,239 258,331 
Salary and fringe benefit tax 18,857 75,899 22,221 90,773 
Withholding tax 28,204 113,521 31,967 130,585 

Payroll payable 788,501 3,173,717 275,521 1,125,503 
Accruals 220,727 888,426 301,950 1,233,466 
Other payables 36,500 146,912 380,313 1,553,578 

 3,447,482 13,876,115 2,702,507 11,039,741 
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15. Borrowings 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
At 1 January  4,520,101 18,464,613 2,637,627 10,859,111 
Additional borrowing 3,233,054 13,161,763 2,000,000 8,220,000 
Accrued interest payable 114,628 466,651 16,095 66,150 
Repayments during the period (208,989) (850,794) (133,621) (549,182) 
Currency translation differences - (415,588) - (131,466) 

At 31 December 7,658,794 30,826,645 4,520,101 18,464,613 

Borrowings were classified into current and non-current portions as follows: 
 
  31 December 2024 31 December 2023 

  US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
   (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
      
Current portion      

Neak Oknha Kith Meng (i) 4,440,754 17,874,034 1,207,700 4,933,455 
SKTM Investment Co., Ltd (i) 2,000,000 8,050,000 2,000,000 8,170,000 
Cambodian Public Bank Plc. (ii) 136,309 548,644 124,270 507,643 
Wing Bank (Cambodia) Plc (iii) 92,790 373,480 84,719 346,077 

  6,669,853 26,846,158 3,416,689 13,957,175 
Accrued interest payable  130,723 526,160 16,095 65,748 

  6,800,576 27,372,318 3,432,784 14,022,923 

Non-current portion      

Cambodian Public Bank Plc. (ii) 555,681 2,236,616 691,991 2,826,783 
Wing Bank (Cambodia) Plc (iii) 302,537 1,217,711 395,326 1,614,907 

  858,218 3,454,327 1,087,317 4,441,690 

  7,658,794 30,826,645 4,520,101 18,464,613 

(i) Borrowing from a shareholder, Neak Oknha KITH MENG is unsecured, interest free and 
repayable on demand (Note 28). 

On 8 December 2023, the Company entered into 12 months fixed loan amounting to 
US$2,000,000 with SKTM Investment Co.,LTD represented by Neak Oknha KITH MENG. The 
loan is unsecured, bears interest rate at 7% per annum for tenor with monthly interest payment 
of US$11,890 starting from 8 January 2024 to 8 December 2024 (Note 28). 
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15. Borrowings (continued) 

(ii) On 6 April 2022, the Company entered into a fixed loan amounting to US$1,000,000 with 
Cambodian Public Bank Plc.. The loan is secured with a land from the shareholder, bears 
interest rate at 9% per annum and is repayable in 84 monthly installments of US$16,153 each 
from 13 April 2022 to 13 April 2029. 

(iii) On 1 September 2022, the Company entered into a fixed loan amounting to US$500,000 with     
Wing Bank (Cambodia) Plc. The loan is unsecured bears interest rate at 7% per annum for 
tenor of 12 months with monthly interest payment of US$2,877 starting from 1 September 2022 
to 1 September 2023 and principal repayment by the end of the loan term.  

On 31 August 2023, the Company renewed the fixed loan with the Bank with revised interest 
rate of 9% per annum and is repayable in 60 monthly installments of US$10,383 starting from 
1 October 2023 to 1 September 2028 (Note 28). 

16. Debt securities 

In 2022, the Company requested to the Securities and Exchange Regulator of Cambodia (SERC) 
and Cambodia Securities Exchange (CSX) to list its corporate bonds. 

First Corporate Bond: 

The Company’s 1st Corporate bond is a plain bond issued to qualified investors with the principal 
amount of KHR 41 billion (US$9,958,708), a tenor of 10 years with a coupon rate of 7% p.a. (per 
annum). The bond was approved by SERC and CSX on 19 September 2022 and 24 October 2022 
respectively and was issued officially on 31 October 2022. 

Second Corporate Bonds: 

The Company’s 2nd Corporate bond is guaranteed by GuarantCo Ltd as a private placement bond 
to the qualified investors with two series of bonds; 

• Bond 1 with the principal amount of KHR49.2 billion (US$11,964,981), a tenor of 5 years with 
a coupon rate of Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 3.5% or 5% p.a, 
whichever is higher; and 

• Bond 2 with the principal amount of KHR49.2 billion (US$11,964,981), a tenor of 10 years with 
a coupon rate of Term SOFR plus 3.5% or 5% p.a, whichever is higher for Year 1 to Year 5 
and Term SOFR plus 3.75% or 5% p.a, whichever is higher for Year 6 to Year 10. 

The bond was approved by SERC and CSX on 19 December 2022 and 26 December 2022 
respectively and was issued officially on 29 December 2022. 
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16. Debt securities (continued) 

Second Corporate Bonds: (continued) 

Debt securities were classified into current and non-current portions as follows: 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Current     

Guaranteed bond  24,809,546 99,858,423 23,929,961 97,753,891 
Plain bond  177,977 716,357 164,852 673,420 

 24,987,523 100,574,780 24,094,813 98,427,311 

Non-current     

Plain bond 9,809,327 39,482,541 9,809,327 40,071,101 
Guaranteed bond - - - - 

 9,809,327 39,482,541 9,809,327 40,071,101 

 34,796,850 140,057,321 33,904,140 138,498,412 

During the year, the Company incurred interest expense on the issued bonds amounting to 
US$4,328,758 equivalent to KHR 17.6 billion (31 December 2023: US$4,006,460 equivalent to                        
KHR 16.5 billion) (Note 27).  

The Company is subject to financial covenant testing every 6 months and as at 31 December 2024, the 
Company was unable to comply with 4 covenants required for the 2nd Corporate bond as follows: 
 

Ratio Name Formula Financial 
requirement ratio 

The Company’s ratio 
31 December 2024 

Debt Service  
Coverage Ratio 

= Cash Flow Available for 
Debt Service/Total debt 
service 

≥1.2 0.1 Not met 

Operating ratio = Net operating income/Total 
operating revenue ≤100% 131% Not met 

Debt to EBITDA = Total debt/EBITDA ≤4.5 -25.1 Not met 
Total debt to total assets = Total debt/Total assets ≤100% 115% Not met 

* EBITDA=Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation 
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16. Debt securities (continued) 

The Company communicated the compliance status to the Guarantor on 5 July 2024 and has 
updated its financial forecast model as per requirement from the Guarantor. On 11 September 
2024, the Company submitted their waiver letter to Guarantor and on 28 January 2025, the 
Guarantor waived the non-compliance of the covenants as of 30 June 2024. Furthermore, the 
Company is in the process of updating its financial forecast model along with the requested waiver 
letter to the Guarantor which has not been finalised as of 31 December 2024 and as at the date of 
the financial statement. 

Accordingly, the carrying amount US$23,929,961 of the guaranteed bond was reclassified to 
current liabilities (31 December 2023: US$23,929,961). 

17. Employee benefit liabilities 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Seniority indemnity     

Current 115,213 463,732 94,759 387,091 
Non-current 42,191 169,819 52,130 212,951 

 157,404 633,551 146,889 600,042 

The movements employee benefit obligations during the year were as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
At 1 Januray 146,889 600,042 148,084 609,662 
Recognised in profit or loss 210,332 856,262 198,771 816,949 
Paid during the year (199,817) (813,455) (199,966) (821,860) 
Currency translation differences - (9,298) - (4,709) 

At 31 December 157,404 633,551 146,889 600,042 

This represents liabilities for seniority indemnity payments required by Prakas No. 443 issued by 
the Ministry of Labour and Vocational Training (“MoLVT”) on 21 September 2018 and subsequently 
amended by the Instruction No. 042/19 dated 22 March 2019. It requires all employers to settle the 
seniority indemnity to their employee as follows: 

• Current pay: starting from 2019 onwards at the amounts equal to 15 days of wages and other 
benefits per year. 
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17. Employee benefit liabilities (continued) 

It requires all employers to settle the seniority indemnity to their employee as follows: (continued) 

• Retrospective (back-pay): starting from end of 2021 onwards at the amounts equal to 6 days 
of net wages per year. The provision of back-pay seniority indemnity is calculated at a 
maximum amount of 6 months net wages (depends on the length of the service employee 
served) to the employee who has seniority before 2019. 

Payments will be made twice a year, in June and December respectively. Employees are not 
entitled to the remaining seniority indemnity back-pay, which is not yet due, if he/she resigns from 
the Company. 

18. Lease liabilities 

During January 2024, the Company entered into a 10 year land lease with Sihanoukville 
Autonomous Port. 
 
 31 December 2024 
 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5) 
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flow    

Less than one year 105,000 422,625 
One to five years 609,202 2,452,038 
More than five years 443,589 1,785,446 

Total undiscounted lease liability 1,157,791 4,660,109 

Present value of lease liabilities   
Current 37,589 151,296 
Non-current 737,122 2,966,916 

Total present value of lease liability 774,711 3,118,212 

19. Other payables 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Rental deposit (*) 149,290 600,892 - - 
Accrual for G&A expenses (**) 79,083 318,309 - - 

 228,373 919,201 - - 
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19. Other payables (continued) 
(*) Originally classified under current Trade and other payables (Note 14) are the Security deposits 

received from sub-lease (Note 33.2). This classification follows the anticipated favourable 
outcome of the ongoing negotiation on the new amended Railway Concession Agreement that 
kicked off during the fourth quarter. 

(**) Originally classified under Trade and Other Payables (Note 14) as accruals, the current 
accruals represent other staff incentive payables accrued since the COVID-19 pandemic 
period that are not expected to be paid in the next 12 months. The Company intends to settle 
this obligation once its financial performance reaches a sustainable breakeven level. 

20. Share capital 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Registered, issued and fully paid:     

2,003,220 ordinary shares  
of US$6.50 each 13,020,930 52,083,720 13,020,930 52,083,720 

The details of the share holding structure were as follows: 
 
 31 December 2024/31 December 2023 
 

Number of 
shares 

Par value 
per share 

US$ 
Amount 

US$ 
%  

ownership 
     
Inter Logistics (Cambodia) Co.,Ltd 1,983,187 6.50 12,890,715 98.9999% 
Neak Oknha Kith Meng 20,033 6.50 130,215 1.0001% 

 2,003,220  13,020,930 100% 

21. Revenue 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Southern line:     

Rail freight 6,303,535 25,661,691 5,720,009 23,509,237 
Train related value-added 

services 850,336 3,461,718 
625,123 2,569,256 

Passengers’ fare 478,045 1,946,121 537,759 2,210,189 
Transportation 98,600 401,401 56,879 233,773 
Other revenue 16,705 68,006 16,735 68,781 

 7,747,221 31,538,937 6,956,505 28,591,236 
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21. Revenue (continued) 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Northern line:     

Rail freight 3,294,640 13,412,479 3,142,146 12,914,220 
Passengers’ fare 149,122 607,076 216,521 889,901 
Train related value-added 

services 20,137 81,978 21,149 86,922 
Transportation - - 5,750 23,633 
Other revenue 75,494 307,336 5,980 24,578 

 3,539,393 14,408,869 3,391,546 13,939,254 

 11,286,614 45,947,806 10,348,051 42,530,490 

The majority of the Company’s freight business is affected by seasonality as a result of natural disasters 
or adverse weather conditions with rainy season being the low months for fuel transport services via 
train. 

22. Cost of services 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Staff costs and wages 3,704,194 15,079,773 3,635,709 14,942,764 
Cost of diesel 5,279,179 21,491,538 4,985,075 20,488,658 
Depreciation and amortisation 

(Note 25) 2,201,710 8,963,161 1,225,898 5,038,441 
Repairs and maintenance  593,315 2,415,385 732,698 3,011,389 
Transportation 507,107 2,064,433 510,656 2,098,796 
Container access charge 311,170 1,266,773 315,933 1,298,485 
Equipment rental 337,245 1,372,924 273,068 1,122,309 
Employee benefit obligations 176,390 718,084 166,972 686,255 
Warehouse rental - - 86,364 354,956 
Others 495,148 2,015,749 416,871 1,713,340 

 13,605,458 55,387,820 12,349,244 50,755,393 
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23. Other operating income 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Warehouse rental 918,368 3,738,676 879,887 3,616,336 
Sale of scrap metal - - 124,617 512,176 
Others 247,323 1,006,852 194,779 800,541 

 1,165,691 4,745,528 1,199,283 4,929,053 

24. Operating and administrative expenses 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Salaries and wages 666,572 2,713,615 610,291 2,508,296 
Directors’ fee 360,000 1,465,560 300,000 1,233,000 
Insurance 287,947 1,172,232 265,521 1,091,291 
Fuel and utilities 123,858 504,226 125,194 514,547 
Equipment rental 110,350 449,235 101,230 416,055 
Depreciation and amortisation  

(Note 25) 124,629 507,365 87,024 357,668 
Communication 73,775 300,338 76,399 314,000 
Professional fees 98,017 399,027 65,817 270,508 
Repairs and maintenance 70,520 287,087 60,850 250,094 
Travelling and accommodation 57,231 232,987 45,102 185,369 
Bonus 10,618 43,226 44,253 181,880 
Provision for employee benefits 33,942 138,178 31,798 130,690 
Small value of assets 45,996 187,250 26,562 109,170 
Licensing, registration and  

permit fee 14,487 58,977 25,321 104,069 
Staff uniform 18,202 74,100 12,782 52,534 
Training and development 2,713 11,044 5,861 24,089 
Other tax expenses 297,618 1,211,603 315,419 1,296,372 
Interest and penalty on tax - - (1,842,973) (7,574,619) 
Other expenses 257,270 1,047,346 318,817 1,310,338 

 2,653,745 10,803,396 675,268 2,775,351 
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25. Depreciation and amortisation 
Depreciation and amortisation charges were allocated as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Depreciation of property and 

equipment and investment 
property (Note 10 and 12) 2,229,741 9,077,276 1,295,864 5,326,001 

Amortisation of intangible assets 
and right-of-use asset  
(Note 11 and 13) 96,598 393,250 17,058 70,108 

 2,326,339 9,470,526 1,312,922 5,396,109 
     
Allocated to:     
Cost of services (Note 22) 2,201,710 8,963,161 1,225,898 5,038,441 
Operating and administrative 

expenses (Note 24) 124,629 507,365 87,024 357,668 

 2,326,339 9,470,526 1,312,922 5,396,109 

26. Income tax 

(a) Applicable tax rates 

In accordance with Cambodian Law on Taxation, the Company has an obligation to pay corporate 
income tax of either the profit tax at the rate of 20% of taxable profits or the minimum tax at 1% of annual 
turnover, whichever is higher.  

Pursuant to Sub-Decree No. 42 dated 24 February 2022 on Tax Incentives in the Securities Sector 
issued by the Royal Government of Cambodia, the Company is entitled to reduce half amount of its tax 
on revenue within the duration of tax incentive period. In order to get the incentives, the Company needs 
to submit the request to the General Department of Taxation (“GDT”) through the Securities and 
Exchange Regulator of Cambodia (“SERC”). 

On 16 December 2022, the Company submitted a letter to SERC for 50% reduction of Tax on Income 
for the year 2023 onwards. On 8 February 2023, the Company received a notification from SERC that 
the request was submitted to the GDT. There has been no response from the GDT as at the date of 
the financial statements yet. 
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26. Income tax (continued) 

(b) Minimum tax liability 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
At 1 January  9,163 37,431 66,007 271,751 
Minimum tax expense 124,802 508,069 116,271 477,874 
Minimum tax paid (121,944) (496,434) (173,115) (711,503) 
Currency translation differences - (681) - (691) 

At 31 December 12,021 48,385 9,163 37,431 

(c) Minimum tax expense 

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the statutory tax rate to the income tax expense as shown 
in the profit or loss is as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Loss before income tax (8,156,271) (33,204,180) (5,392,678) (22,163,906) 

Income tax using statutory  
income tax rate (1,631,254) (6,640,836) (1,078,536) (4,432,781) 

Non-deductible expenses 59,524 242,322 63,084 259,273 
Tax loss not recognised as 

deferred tax assets 535,550 2,180,224 276,115 1,134,833 
Deductible temporary difference 

not recognised as deferred  
tax assets 1,036,180 4,218,290 739,337 3,038,675 

Income tax expense - - - - 

Minimum tax at 1% of turnover 124,802 508,069 116,271 477,874 

The calculation of income tax is subject to the review and assessment of the tax authorities. 
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26. Income tax (continued) 

(d) Unrecognised deferred tax 

Tax losses incurred in any tax year can be carried forward to offset against profit realised in the following 
five tax years subject to the following conditions:  

• The loss must be recorded in the Annual Tax on Income return and submitted to the General 
Department of Taxation on time; 

• The business objective of the Company must not have changed; and 

• The Company must not have received an unilateral tax re-assessment. 

Deferred tax assets in respect of the tax losses are not recognised in the financial statements because 
it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the Company can use the 
benefits therefrom. 

(e) Tax contingencies 

The Company assesses its tax obligations based on applicable tax laws and regulations as of the 
reporting date. Given the evolving nature of tax legislation, certain tax treatments may necessitate 
judgment and interpretation. Management exercises judgment in establishing the Company’s tax 
positions and continually monitors regulatory developments. While the Company strives to comply with 
current tax requirements, interpretations of tax regulations may vary. Any adjustments resulting from 
regulatory reviews, once conducted and finalised, will be reflected into the financial statements as 
appropriate. 

27. Finance costs – net 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Interest income from cash at bank 327,766 1,334,335 408,560 1,679,182 

Interest expense on:     

Debt securities (4,328,758) (17,622,374) (4,006,460) (16,466,551) 
Borrowing (264,634) (1,077,325) (130,665) (537,033) 
Lease liabilities (70,435) (286,741) - - 

 (4,336,061) (17,652,105) (3,728,565) (15,324,402) 



Royal Railway Plc. 

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 

39 

28. Related party transactions and balances 

(a) Identity of related party 

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company if 
the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence 
over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Company and 
the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be 
individuals or other entities. 

The Company has related party relationships with its substantial shareholders and key management 
personnel. 

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company either directly or indirectly. 

The key management personnel include all the Directors of the Company, and certain senior 
management members of the Company. 

Key management have relationships with the Company which are entered into in the normal course of 
business and on substantially the same terms, including warehouse rental, purchase of goods and 
services, insurance, telephone expense and other expense, as for comparable transactions with other 
persons of a similar standing or, where applicable, with other employees. These transactions did not 
involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavourable features. 

(b) Transactions with related parties 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Property rental     

GSS Global Security Solutions 
Co., Ltd. 36,310 147,818 33,009 135,667 

CAMGSM Plc. 345,400 1,406,123 - - 
J Trust Royal Bank Plc. 428,417 1,744,086 360,873 1,483,188 

Utilities     

GSS Global Security Solutions 
Co., Ltd. 3,989 16,239 - - 

CamGSM Plc. 4,521 18,405 - - 
J Trust Royal Bank Plc. 1,598 6,505 - - 

Deposit     

CAMGSM Plc. 72,000 293,112 - - 
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28. Related party transactions and balances (continued) 

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued) 
 
 2024 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Insurance     

Infinity General Insurance Plc. 176,084 716,838 281,881 1,158,531 

Telephone expense     
CAMGSM Plc. 27,567 112,225 20,642 84,839 

Security fee     
GSS Global Security Solutions 

Co., Ltd. 47,966 195,270 27,720 113,929 

Cleaning service     
GSS Global Security Solutions 

Co., Ltd. 2,123 8,643 1,023 4,205 

Face Recognition     
GSS Global Security Solutions 

Co., Ltd. 3,674 14,957 - - 

Internet service fee     
EZECOM Co., Ltd 58,512 238,202 63,139 259,501 

Microsoft Office 365     
EZECOM Co., Ltd 4,646 18,914 - - 

Power BI Pro     
EZECOM Co., Ltd 132 537 - - 

Interest expense     
Wing Bank (Cambodia) Plc. 39,878 162,343 34,400 141,384 
SKTM Investment Co., Ltd 140,000 569,940 - - 

Borrowing     
Royal Coffee 2,000 8,142 - - 
Neak Oknha Kith Meng 3,233,054 13,161,763 - - 

The total remuneration of key managements for the year ended 31 December 2024 including 
salaries and benefits was US$670,591 (2023: US$588,727). 
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28. Related party transactions and balances (continued) 

(c) Balances with related parties 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
    
Amount due from related parties (Note 7)    
Trade related:     

GSS Global Security Solutions  
Co., Ltd. - - 10,995 44,915 

Non-trade related:     
Royal Coffee 29,094 117,103 37,938 154,976 

 29,094 117,103 48,933 199,891 

Amounts due to related parties (Note 14)    
Trade related:     

Infinity General Insurance Plc. 80,498 324,004 257,055 1,050,070 
CamGSM Plc. 2,814 11,327 1,622 6,626 
GSS Global Security Solutions 

Co., Ltd. 2,468 9,934 - - 
 85,780 345,265 258,677 1,056,696 

Borrowings (Note 15)     
Neak Oknha Kith Meng 4,440,754 17,874,034 1,207,700 4,933,455 
SKTM Investment Co., Ltd 2,000,000 8,050,000 2,000,000 8,170,000 
Wing Bank (Cambodia) Plc. 395,327 1,591,191 480,045 1,960,984 

Amounts due from/to related parties and borrowings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on 
demand. 

29. Lease commitments 
The future minimum lease payments related to low-value items leases are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
     
Within one year 80,250 323,006 157,061 641,594 
Between two to five years 26,000 104,650 8,994 36,740 
 106,250 427,656 166,055 678,334 
Capital commitment     
In respect of property and equipment    
Contracted but not yet provided 1,127,563 4,538,441 2,414,698 9,864,041 
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30. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management 

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values 

All the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are categorised as Level 3 under the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 Carrying 

amounts Fair value 
Carrying 
amounts Fair value 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ 
Financial assets     
Cash at banks 8,876,509 8,876,509 21,442,449 21,442,449 
Trade and other receivables     
Trade receivables - net 603,790 603,790 409,923 409,923 
Amount due from related party 29,094 29,094 48,933 48,933 
Deposit 76,560 76,560 79,810 79,810 
Other receivables 1,580 1,580 299,468 299,468 

 9,587,533 9,587,533 22,280,583 22,280,583 

KHR'000 equivalent (Note 5) 38,589,820 38,589,820 91,016,182 91,016,182 

Financial liabilities     
Trade payables 2,187,393 2,187,393 1,368,619 1,368,619 
Amount due to related parties 85,780 85,780 258,677 258,677 
Accruals 299,810 299,810 301,950 301,950 
Debt securities 34,796,850 34,796,850 33,904,140 33,904,140 
Security deposit 170,605 170,605 - - 
Other payables 15,185 15,185 380,313 380,313 
Borrowings 7,658,794 7,658,794 4,520,101 4,520,101 

 45,214,417 45,214,417 40,733,800 40,733,800 

KHR'000 equivalent (Note 5) 181,988,028 181,988,028 166,397,574 166,397,574 

(b) Financial risk management 

The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 

• credit risk 

• liquidity risk 

• market risk 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s 
management of capital. 
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30. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 

Risk management framework 

The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
the Company’s risk management framework. The board of directors has established the risk 
management committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk 
management policies. The committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities. 

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management 
standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in 
which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The Company audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the 
Company’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. The Company audit 
committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular 
and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported 
to the audit committee. 

There have been no changes to the Company’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk. 

(i) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s 
receivables from customers and financial assets. The Company’s major classes of financial assets 
are cash and cash equivalent and trade receivables. The Company does not have any significant 
credit exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. 

Trade and other receivables 

Credit risks mainly relate to current trade receivables from a broad base of customers, mainly 
corporates. 
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30. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 

Trade and other receivables (continued) 

Customer concentration 

A substantial portion of the Company’s revenues are derived from sales made to Kampuchea Tela 
Co., Ltd accounted for approximately 25% (2023: Kampuchea Tela Co., Ltd. accounted for 
approximately 26%) of the Company’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024. As the 
management expects revenue derived from this customer continued to constitute a significant 
portion of the Company’s revenues, any factors adversely affecting the operation of Kampuchea 
Tela Co., Ltd could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position 
and results of operations. 

The Company monitors the credit and manages it actively by making any necessary credit checks 
and optimising the payment process. 

The Company does not require collateral in respect of trade receivables. 

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) assessment for corporate customers 

The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure ECLs of trade receivables from corporate 
customers which comprise a very large number of small balances. 

Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable 
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are calculated 
separately for exposures in different segments based on the following common credit risk 
characteristics-geographic region, age of customer relationship and type of services purchased.  

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables for corporate and individual customers: 
 
 Weighted  Gross  Loss  Credit- 
 average loss rate carrying amount allowance impaired 
31 December 2024 % US$ US$  
     
Current (not past due) 4.52% 97,097 4,390 No 
1 – 30 days past due 7.77% 489,115 38,007 No 
31 – 60 days past due  25.12% 75,432 18,945 No 
61 – 90 days past due 47.10% 6,551 3,085 No 
More than 90 days 99.98% 130,087 130,065 Yes 

  798,282 194,492  
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30. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) assessment for corporate customers (continued) 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables for corporate and individual customers: (continued) 
 
 Weighted  Gross  Loss  Credit- 
 average loss rate carrying amount allowance impaired 
31 December 2023 % US$ US$  
     
Current (not past due) 3.82% 80,931 3,094 No 
1 – 30 days past due 6.72% 288,886 19,418 No 
31 – 60 days past due  22.71% 64,889 14,739 No 
61 – 90 days past due 36.08% 19,466 7,024 No 
More than 90 days 99.98% 121,811 121,785 Yes 

  575,983 166,060  

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past financial year. With limited 
historical data available, management has not identified any developments in the economic 
environment that provide observable data that loss rates derived from the reference period may 
not be the best reasonable and supportable information available for the purpose of estimating ECL 
on trade receivables outstanding as at reporting date. 

Cash at banks 

Cash at banks are current accounts with ACLEDA Bank Plc., J Trust Royal Bank, Cambodian Public 
Bank Plc., Foreign Trade Bank of Cambodia, Wing (Cambodia) Plc and MayBank (Cambodia) Plc. 

The Company considers that these amounts have low credit risk based on the external credit 
ratings of the counterparties. Management does not foresee any significant credit risk from cash at 
banks and does not expect that those banks may default and cause losses to the Company. 

Impairment losses on cash at banks are disclosed in Note 6.  

(ii) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. 
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30. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued) 

The Company monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by management to finance the Company’s operations and to mitigate the effects of 
fluctuations in cash flows. 

Exposure to liquidity risk 

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. 
The amounts are grossed and undiscounted and include estimated interest payments and exclude 
the impact of netting arrangements. 
 
  Undiscounted    
  contractual 6 months 6 to 12 After 
 Carrying amounts cash flow or less months 1 year  

US$ KHR’000 US$ US$ US$ US$ 
2024  (Note 5)     
       
Trade payables 2,187,393 8,804,257 2,187,393 1,502,351 226,223 458,819 
Amount due to  

related parties 85,780 345,265 85,780 30,780 55,000 - 
Accruals 299,810 1,206,736 299,810 299,810 - - 

 2,572,983 10,356,258 2,572,983 1,832,941 281,223 458,819 
Debt securities issued 34,796,850 140,057,321 33,888,669 24,079,342 - 9,809,327 
Security deposit 170,605 686,685 170,605 170,605 - - 
Other payables 15,185 61,119 15,185 15,185 - - 
Borrowings 7,658,794 30,826,645 7,658,794 6,683,562 117,014 858,218 
 

45,214,417 181,988,028 44,306,236 32,781,635 398,237 11,126,364 

2023       
       
Trade payables 1,368,619 5,590,809 1,368,619 980,365 304,996 83,258 
Amount due to 

related parties 258,677 1,056,696 258,677 6,236 57,463 194,978 
Accruals 301,950 1,233,466 301,950 301,950 - - 

 1,929,246 7,880,971 1,929,246 1,288,551 362,459 278,236 
Debt securities issued 33,904,140 138,498,412 33,888,669 24,079,342 - 9,809,327 
Other payables 380,313 1,553,578 380,313 380,313 - - 
Borrowings 4,520,101 18,464,613 4,520,101 3,325,922 106,862 1,087,317 
 

40,733,800 166,397,574 40,718,329 29,074,128 469,321 11,174,880 
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30. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 

(iii) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates – that will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising the returns. 

Currency risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from purchases and transactions that 
are denominated in a currency other than the Company’s functional currency which is Khmer Riel.  

The currency that gives rise to the foreign exchange risk to the Company is primarily United States 
of Dollar (USD) from borrowings and transactions with related parties and payment of operating 
expenses. 

The Company does not hedge its foreign currency exposure. To manage its foreign currency 
exposure, the Company’s policy is to ensure that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by 
buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary. 

Interest rate risk 

The interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows: 
 
 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
 US$ KHR’000 US$ KHR’000 
  (Note 5)  (Note 5) 
Fixed rate instruments     

Financial liabilities 17,468,121 70,309,186 14,329,428 18,464,613 

Variable-rate instruments     

Financial liabilities 24,987,523 100,574,780 24,094,813 98,427,311 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

The Company does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, and the Company does not have derivatives at the reporting date. Therefore, a change in 
interest rates at the end of reporting period would not affect profit or loss. 
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30. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 

(iii) Market risk (continued) 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments 

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have 
increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant. 
 
 Profit or loss Equity, net of tax 
 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 
 increase decrease increase decrease 
     
31 December 2024     

Variable-rate instruments 249,875 (249,875) 249,875 (249,875) 
     
31 December 2023     

Variable-rate instruments 240,948 (240,948) 240,948 (240,948) 

31. Material accounting policies 

The Company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in 
these financial statements, except if mentioned otherwise. 

(a) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in currencies other than US$ are translated into US$ at the exchange rates ruling at 
the dates of the transactions.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than US$ at the reporting date are 
translated into US$ at the rates of exchange ruling at that date. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in other currency are translated using the exchange rates as 
at the respective dates of the initial transactions. Foreign currency differences are generally 
recognised in profit or loss. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Financial instruments 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

The Company initially recognises trade and other receivables on the date that they are originated. 
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or 
loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade 
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 

Non-derivative financial assets – Classification 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); debt investment or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets 
are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.  

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is 
not designated as at FVTPL: 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and 

• its contractual term give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

The Company classify other receivables, term deposits and cash and cash equivalents as “financial 
assets measured at amortised cost”. 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

Non-derivative financial assets – Classification (continued) 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election 
is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset 
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as at FVTPL, 
if doing so, eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Non-derivative financial assets – Business model assessment 

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial 
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to management. The information considered includes: 

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice; 

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management; 

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 
that business model) and how those risks are managed; 

• how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the 
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected.; and 

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for 
such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not 
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.  

Non-derivative financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition. “Interest” is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit 
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other 
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

Non-derivative financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest (continued) 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual 
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.  

In making this assessment, the Company considers:  

• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 

• terms that may adjust the contractual rate, including variable-rate features; 

• prepayment and extension features;  

• terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 
features); and 

• features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest 
rates). 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the 
prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of 
the contract. 

Non-derivative financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Debt investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the 
effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 
profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

Non-derivative financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses (continued) 

Debt investments at FVOCI (continued) 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is 
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as 
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains 
and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense 
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 

(iii) Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, 
or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does 
not retain control over the transferred asset. 

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of 
financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred 
assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.  

Financial liabilities 

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expired. The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are 
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new 
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non‑cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

(iv) Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal enforceable right to offset the 
amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the enforceable asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 

(v) Share capital – ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
ordinary shares, net of any tax effects, are recognised as a deduction from equity. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and deposits with banks with original 
maturities of three months or less and other highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(d) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. 
The cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method, and includes the original purchase cost, costs 
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. 

(e) Property and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 

Gains or losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing 
the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised 
net within other income in profit or loss. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Property and equipment (continued) 

(ii) Subsequent costs 

The costs of replacing a part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

(iii) Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other 
amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as 
follows: 

Railroad and station improvements 3 to 5 years 
Locomotive 5 to 25 years 
Wagon 5 to 20 years 
Train track 5 years 
Trolley  5 years 
Equipment and machinery 3 to 5 years 
Office equipment 5 years 
Furniture and fittings 5 years 
IT hardware 3 years 
Signage and Boom gate 5 years 

Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time as the relevant assets are completed 
and put into operational use. 

If there is an indication that there has been a significant change in depreciation rate, useful life or 
residual value of an asset, the depreciation of that asset is revised prospectively to reflect the new 
expectations. 

(f) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets comprise computer software and the sign-on fees under the Railway Concession 
Agreement which are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The computer software is amortised over its estimated life of 3 years and the 
sign-on fees is amortised over 29 years using the straight-line method. If there is an indication that 
there has been a significant change in amortisation rate, useful life or residual value of an intangible 
asset, the amortisation is revised prospectively to reflect the new expectations. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Investment property 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The initial cost of investment property comprises construction expenditure and 
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. 
Construction expenditure consists of contracted construction price, non-refundable taxes and any 
directly attributable costs. Expenditure incurred after investment property has been put into operation, 
such as repairs and maintenance, is recognised in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. In 
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in future economic 
benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing investment 
property, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of investment property. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property (calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. 

(ii) Depreciation 

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of investment 
property. The estimated useful lives of the land improvement is 5 years. 

(h) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets 

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost.  

Cash and cash equivalents for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of 
the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition, which is measured at 
12-month ECLs. For trade and other receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in 
calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises 
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date (i.e., a loss allowance for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default). The Company 
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.  

The Company considers a significant increase in credit risk to have occurred when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due and considers a financial asset in default when contractual 
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial 
asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to 
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Impairment (continued) 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which 
the Company is exposed to credit risk. 

Measurement of ECLs 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).  

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 
are credit impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower; 

• a breach of contract such as default or being more than 90 days past due; 

• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not 
consider otherwise; or 

• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.  

Write-off 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirely or a portion thereof. For individual customers, 
the Company has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical experience of 
recoveries of similar assets. For corporate customers, the Company individually makes an 
assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable 
expectation of recovery. The Company expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. 
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subjected to enforcement activities in order 
to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Impairment (continued) 

(ii) Non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other 
than inventories) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication 
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

For the impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or CGUs. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses are allocated to reduce the 
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined net of depreciation and amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

(i) Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at the transaction price (that is, the present value of cash payable 
to the lenders, including transaction costs). Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. 
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

(j) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as 
a finance cost. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be 
paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of 
past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

The Company’s net obligation in respect of other long-term employee benefits is the amount of 
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current and prior periods. 
That benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Measurements are recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which they arise. 

(I) Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

(i) As a lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative 
stand-alone prices. However, the Company has elected not to separate non-lease components 
and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentive received. 

The right-of use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end 
of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use asset are determined on the same basis 
as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company 
uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various 
external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type 
of the asset leased. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(I) Leases (continued) 

(i) As a lessee (continued) 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 
or rate as at the commencement date; 

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise 
lease payment in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise 
an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is 
reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is measured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there 
is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option or if there is a revised in substance fixed loan payment. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

The Company has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low 
value assets and short-term leases, including rental equipment. The Company recognises the 
lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

(ii) As a lessor 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative 
standalone prices. 

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease.  
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(I) Leases (continued) 

(ii) As a lessor (continued) 

To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the 
case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this 
assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major 
part of the economic life of the asset. 

When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the 
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease 
is a short-term lease to which the Company applies the exemption described above, then it 
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease. 

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Company applies CIFRS 
15 to allocate the consideration in the contract. 

The Company applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in CIFRS 9 to the net 
investment in the lease (see Note 31(h)(i)). The Company further regularly reviews estimated 
unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.  

The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term as part of ‘Other operating income’. 

(m) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of discounts 
and value added taxes. 

(i) Service revenue 

Revenue from rail freight, train-related value-added services and passenger’s fare are recognised 
when the services are provided to the customers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of discounts and value added taxes. 

(ii) Warehouse income 

Warehouse rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant rental 
contracts. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(n) Finance costs 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and debt securities.  

Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument to the amortised cost of the financial liability. 

(o) Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to 
the extent it relates to the items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

The Company has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including 
uncertain tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for 
them under CIAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

(i) Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount 
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Temporary differences in relation to a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for a specific lease are 
regarded as a net package (the lease) for the purpose of recognising deferred tax. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of 
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient 
to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing 
temporary differences, are considered based on the business plan of the Company. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the 
probability of future taxable profits improves. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(o) Income tax (continued) 

(ii) Deferred tax (continued) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in 
which the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

(p) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

A number of new accounting standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after                   
1 January 2024 and earlier application is permitted. However, the Company has not early adopted 
the following new or amended accounting standards in preparing the financial statements. 

(i) CIFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 

CIFRS 18 will replace CIAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and applies for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. The new standard introduces the following key new 
requirements: 

Companies are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories in the statement of 
profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income tax 
categories. Entities are also required to present a newly-defined operating profit subtotal. Companies' 
net profit will not change. 

• Management-defined performance measures (MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in the 
financial statements. 

• Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group information in the financial statements. 

In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the starting point for the 
statement of cash flows when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method. 

The Company is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly with 
respect to the structure of the Company’s statement of profit or loss, the statement of cash flows and 
the additional disclosures required for MPMs. The Company is also assessing the impact on how 
information is grouped in the financial statements, including for items currently labelled as “other”. 
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31. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(p) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

(ii) Other accounting standards 

The following new and amended accounting standards are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Company’s financial statements: 

• Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to CIAS 21) 

• Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to CIFRS 9 and 
CIFRS 7) 

32. Operating segment information 

Management has determined operating segments with reference to the reports reviewed by the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company that are used to assess the performance and allocate resources. 
The CEO of the Company assesses the performance and allocates the resources of the Company 
as a whole, as all of the Company’s activities are considered to be primarily dependent on the 
provision of rail freight services to external customers and its related services representing 85% and 
87% of total revenue. Therefore, the Company’s management considers that there is only one 
operating segment. In this regard, no segment information is presented for the year. 

No geographic information is shown as the Company’s operating results are entirely derived from 
its business activities in Cambodia only. 

33. Contingent liabilities 

1. Concession agreement with the GKC 

On 12 June 2009, Royal Railway Cambodia., Ltd. (formally known as Toll (Cambodia) Co LTD) 
entered into the Concession Agreement (Known as Existing Concession Agreement) with the 
GKC. There are provisions in the Existing Concession Agreement specifying concession fees to 
be paid by the Company to the GKC for the use of the conceded assets from the effective date of 
the Concession Agreement. The Company’s management has performed an assessment of its 
obligation under the existing Concession Agreement with the advice by its legal counsel and 
concluded that the conditions precedent specified in the concession agreement have not been fully 
satisfied and both the GKC and the Company have not concluded on the agreed date for the 
effective date, and therefore, the obligation to pay the concession fee has not yet become effective. 
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33. Contingent liabilities (continued) 

1. Concession agreement with the GKC (continued) 

The Company’s management is continuing its negotiation with the GKC represented by MPWT on 
the new amended Railway Concession Agreement which has not been finalised as at the date of 
these financial statements yet.  

The estimated concession fees payable is contingent on the ultimate outcome of the matters 
described above and accordingly no provision for any liability has been made in these financial 
statements. 

On 13 February 2025, the Company and GKC represented by MPWT entered into a framework 
agreement on railway project to jointly advance the development of Cambodia's railway infrastructure. 
This partnership aims to enhance the railway system's efficiency, sustainability, resilience, and 
convenience and is considered a step forward to the negotiation of the concession agreement. 

2. Sub-lease agreement with J TRUST ROYAL BANK PLC and CAMGSM PLC. 

On 9 June 2022, the Company sub-leased the available space approximating 3,200 sqm to                 
J TRUST ROYAL BANK PLC for the duration of 4 years. 

On 29 February 2024, the Company sub-leased the available space approximating 2,705 sqm to 
CAMGSM Plc. for the duration of 20 years. 

Based on this sub-lease agreement, in the event the Company terminates the sub-lease 
agreement, the Company shall refund to J TRUST ROYAL BANK PLC and CAMGSM Plc the 
deposit and other compensation for any loss occurred due to this premature termination of the 
agreement. 

The continuity of this sub-lease agreement is contingent to the favourable outcome of the negotiation 
on the new amended Railway Concession Agreement as described in Note 33.1 above. 
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